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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS

FAYETTEVILLE DIVISION

SHAY FERGUSON and JOSHUA COLEMAN,
individually and on behalf of all others

similarly situated PLAINTIFFS

v. CASE NO.

ARKANSAS SUPPORT NETWORK, INC. DEFENDANT

COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT

I. INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action for unpaid overtime and minimum wage under the Fair

Labor Standards Act. Defendant Arkansas Support Network, Inc. employs home care

workers, known as "direct support professionals, to assist individuals with

developmental disabilities. Plaintiffs were employed by Arkansas Support Network as

direct support professionals. Plaintiffs worked long shifts generally 12 hours per day

and regularly worked 60 hours per workweek. Despite working long hours assisting

those individuals with developmental disabilities, Plaintiffs were not paid overtime

compensation for their hours worked over 40. Moreover, Plaintiffs oftentimes did not

receive the minimum wage for their hours worked up to 40 in a workweek. Plaintiffs

were not exempt from the Fair Labor Standards Act's overtime and minimum wage

requirements.

2. In or around November 2017, Arkansas Support Network issued checks for

"back wages owed" to some current and former employees. The Company claimed the
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check amounts were calculated by the United States Department of Labor, but employees

were not informed how the amounts were calculated and were expressly told that no

explanation could be provided. Moreover, the employees were not informed that they

were required to waive their rights to accept the payment. As a result, those employees

who accepted the checks did not waive their FLSA rights.

3. Plaintiffs bring suit on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated to

recover unpaid overtime, minimum wage, liquidated damages, attorneys' fees and

expenses, and any other relief the Court deems just and proper.

II. PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE

4. Plaintiff Shay Ferguson is a citizen of Washington County, Arkansas.

Ferguson worked for Arkansas Support Network as a direct support professional from

approximately March 2006 until 2008 and again from 2011 until October 2016. From 2008

until 2011, Ferguson worked as a house manager for Arkansas Support Network. During

the past three years, Ferguson has worked more than 40 hours in one or more workweeks,

and he was not paid overtime compensation. Also, during the past three years, Ferguson

was not paid the minimum wage for all his hours worked up to 40 in a workweek. His

consent to join this action is attached as Exhibit "A."

5. Plaintiff Joshua Coleman is a citizen of Madison County, Arkansas.

Coleman is currently employed by Arkansas Support Network as a direct support

professional. Coleman has worked for Arkansas Support Network as a direct support

professional since approximately March 2012. During the past three years, Coleman has

worked more than 40 hours in one or more workweeks, and he was not paid overtime
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compensation. Also, during the past three years, Coleman was not paid the minimum

wage for all his hours worked up to 40 in a workweek. His consent to join this action is

attached as Exhibit "B."

6. Defendant Arkansas Support Network, Inc. is a domestic non-profit

corporation. Arkansas Support Network employs home care workers, known as direct

support professionals, to assist individuals with developmental disabilities. Arkansas

Support Network is an employer of Plaintiffs and putative class members within the

meaning of the Fair Labor Standards Act. Arkansas Support Network can be served

through its registered agent Keith Vire, 6836 Isaac's Orchard Road, Springdale, Arkansas

72762.

7. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and the putative class members have been

entitled to the rights, protections, and benefits of the Fair Labor Standards Act.

8. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and the putative class members have been

"employees" of Defendants. 29 U.S.C. 203(e).

9. At all relevant times, Defendants were the "employers" of Plaintiffs and the

putative class members. 29 U.S.C. 203(d).

10. Jurisdiction of this action is conferred on the Court by 29 U.S.C. 216(b),

217; and 28 U.S.C. 1331.

11. Venue lies within this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1391 because a

substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred within this

district. Specifically, throughout the relevant period, Defendant Arkansas Support
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Network's headquarters was in this district and Plaintiffs regularly provided services to

Arkansas Support Network's clients in this district.

III. FACTS

16. At all pertinent times, Defendant Arkansas Support Network has been

engaged in activities and has had employees engaged in commerce or in the production

of goods for commerce, or employees handling, receiving, selling, or otherwise working

on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce, and therefore

constitute an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for

commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 203(r) and (s).

17. At all pertinent times, Defendant Arkansas Support Network has had an

annual gross volume of sales made or business done of not less than $500,000.00, and

therefore, constitutes an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods

for commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 203(r) and (s).

18. Arkansas Support Network is or was, at all relevant times, Plaintiffs'

"employer" as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. 203(d).

19. Plaintiffs are or were each an "employee" of Arkansas Support Network as

that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. 203(d).

20. Defendant Arkansas Support Network, Inc. provides various services to

assist its clients, individuals with developmental disabilities, inside the client's home.

http:/ /www.supports.org/programs/community-living-services/ (last accessed

December 11, 2017).
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21. To provide these in-home services, Arkansas Support Network employed

Plaintiffs and putative class members as "direct support professionals." Throughout the

relevant period, the position has also been referred to as a "community support

professional."

22. In that position, Plaintiffs provided support and assistance to assigned

clients in the home of those individuals. See (Job Desc. [Ex. C]).

23. Plaintiffs' and putative class members' job duties included assisting the

clients with medications, completing household chores, keeping watch over the clients to

ensure they did not harm themselves or others, and other duties. See (Job Desc. [Ex. C]).

24. Typically, Arkansas Support Network's clients require 24-hour supervision

and assistance. To provide round-the-clock coverage, Arkansas Support Network usually

assigns two direct support professionals per client.

25. Plaintiffs and putative class members worked long shifts. To provide 24-

hour coverage, Plaintiffs and putative class members were scheduled to work 12-hour

shifts, usually 5 days per week.

26. For example, during the last several years of his employment, Plaintiff

Ferguson typically worked the night shift. He was scheduled to arrive at his client's home

at 8:00 p.m. and he would work until his relief arrived at 8:00 a.m. Ferguson would then

again return to the patient's home at 8:00 p.m. to start the process over.

27. Despite working overnight, Ferguson was required to stay alert throughout

the evening and could not sleep during the shift. Arkansas Support Network required

Ferguson and other direct support professionals to remain alert because their charges
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might attempt to leave the residence during the night and could be a risk to themselves

or others.

28. Plaintiffs and putative class members also worked additional shifts on the

weekends. Upon information and belief, weekend shifts were usually staffed on a

volunteer basis. In those situations, direct support professionals would cover additional

12-hour shifts.

29. At times, however, Plaintiffs and putative class members were left with no

choice but to work additional weekend shifts. If, for example, a direct support

professional's shift ended at 8:00 a.m. Saturday morning, but their relief did not show up

to work, that employee would be required to work the following 12-hour shift. As a

result, it was not uncommon for direct care professionals to work 24 hours straight, or

more.

30. Despite working over 40 hours in a workweek, Plaintiffs and putative class

members were not paid overtime compensation for their hours worked over 40.

31. Instead, Plaintiffs and putative class members are paid either an hourly rate

or a flat fee. Upon information and belief, some direct support professionals were paid

an hourly rate for each hour of their shift. Other direct support professionals were paid a

flat fee ranging between $60-89 per shift. Despite receiving an hourly rate or a flat fee,

however, Plaintiffs and putative class members were not paid overtime compensation for

their hours worked over 40.

32. Each Plaintiff worked in excess of 40 hours in at least one or more

workweeks during the past three years. Arkansas Support Network did not pay Plaintiffs
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an overtime premium when they worked over 40 hours in a workweek. Plaintiffs and

those similarly situated are entitled to payment for any hours worked over 40 in a

workweek at one-and-a-half times their regular rate of pay.

33. In addition, Plaintiffs and putative class members were oftentimes paid less

than the minimum wage for their hours worked. For example, Plaintiff Coleman was paid

a flat fee of $65 for each 12-hour shift. At that rate, Coleman's effective hourly rate was

$5.41 per hour far less than the ELSA's required minimum wage of $7.25 per hour.

34. Upon information and belief, each Plaintiff was paid less than the federal

minimum wage in at least one or more workweeks during the past three years. Plaintiffs

and those similarly situated are entitled to be paid at least the federal minimum wage for

all hours worked up to 40 in a workweek.

35. In or around November 2017, Arkansas Support Network issued checks for

"back wages owed" to some current and former employees. (Back Wages Letter [Ex. D]).

36. Plaintiffs and putative class members were told very little about their "back

wages owed, other than the payment related to "a change in labor laws in late 2015

surrounding the use of Per Diem payments for overnight compensation shifts [the

employees] worked." (Back Wages Letter [Ex. D]).

37. The Company represented that the United States Department of Labor

performed the calculations and determined the timing of the payments. (Back Wages Letter

[Ex. D]).

Page 7 of 16



Case 5:17-cv-05257-PKH Document 1 Filed 12/12/17 Page 8 of 16 PagelD 8

38. Neither the check nor check stub included information about a potential

waiver. See (Redacted Check and Check Stub [Ex. ED (bank account, routing, and social

security numbers redacted).

39. Upon information and belief, when the employees received the check they

were not informed that acceptance of the check could result in a waiver of FLSA rights,

and they did not receive or sign any materials indicating that acceptance of a check could

serve as a waiver of their ELSA rights.

40. The Company claimed the check amounts were calculated by the United

States Department of Labor, but no information was provided to the employees of how

the amounts were calculated or the consequences of cashing those checks. Because

Plaintiffs and putative class members were not provided proper notice that acceptance of

the check acted as a settlement of their potential claims, Plaintiffs and putative class

members have not waived their rights under the FLSA. See Beauford v. ActionLink, LLC,

781 F.3d 396, 405-08 (8th Cir. 2014).

IV. COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

41. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding paragraphs as if they were

fully set forth herein.

42. Plaintiffs bring this action as a collective action pursuant to Section 16(b) of

the Fair Labor Standards Act on behalf of all persons who were, are, or will be employed

by Arkansas Support Network, Inc. as direct support professionals throughout the

United States.
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43. Plaintiffs reserve the right to modify or amend the proposed class definition

subject to additional information gained through further investigation and discovery.

44. Plaintiffs' claims for violations of the FLSA may be brought and maintained

as an "opt-in" collective action because putative class members are similarly situated to

Plaintiffs.

45. There are numerous similarly situated direct support professionals who

worked for Arkansas Support Network who would benefit from the issuance of Court-

supervised notice of the instant lawsuit and the opportunity to join in the present lawsuit.

Similarly situated employees are known to Arkansas Support Network and readily

identifiable through payroll records Arkansas Support Network is required to keep by

law. 29 U.S.C. 211(c).

46. There are questions of law and fact common to Plaintiffs and others

similarly situated, which predominate over any questions affecting individual members

only. These factual and legal questions include, but are not limited to:

a. Which individuals and entities are considered "employers" of

Plaintiffs and putative class members under the FLSA;

b. Whether Arkansas Support Network satisfied its obligation to pay

Plaintiffs and others similarly situated the minimum wage and overtime payments

required by the FLSA;

c. Whether Arkansas Support Network's actions were willful;

d. Whether Arkansas Support Network complied with its

recordkeeping obligations under the FLSA;
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e. Whether Plaintiffs and putative class members are entitled to

liquidated damages;

f. Whether Plaintiffs and putative class members are entitled to

attorneys' fees, costs, and expenses.

47. Arkansas Support Network acted and refused to act on grounds generally

applicable to Plaintiffs and others similarly situated.

48. Plaintiffs' claims are typical of the claims of the putative class in that

Plaintiffs and others similarly situated were denied overtime and minimum wage

because of Arkansas Support Network's policies and practice. This is the predominant

issue that pertains to the claims of Plaintiffs and the members of the putative class.

49. Plaintiffs' FLSA damages, and those of all putative collective action

members, should be able to be calculated mechanically based on records Arkansas Support

Network is required to keep. 29 C.F.R. 313.28. If Arkansas Support Network failed to keep

records as required by law, Plaintiffs and class members will be entitled to damages

based on the best available evidence, even if it is only estimates. See Anderson v. Mt.

Clemens, 328 U.S. 680, 687 (1946). Arkansas Support Network cannot benefit from its failure,

if any, to maintain records required by law.

50. The collective action mechanism is superior to other available methods for

a fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.

51. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the putative

class, as their interests are in complete alignment with others similarly situated, i.e., to
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prove and then eradicate Arkansas Support Network's illegal practice of not paying direct

support professionals overtime compensation and minimum wage.

52. Plaintiffs' counsel is experienced with class/collective litigation, has

previously served as class counsel in FLSA litigation, and will adequately protect the

interests of Plaintiffs and others similarly situated.

53. Plaintiffs and the proposed FLSA Class they seek to represent have

suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable damage from the illegal policy, practice,

and custom regarding Arkansas Support Network's pay practices.

54. Arkansas Support Network has engaged in a continuing violation of the

FLSA.

55. Plaintiffs and all other similarly-situated direct support professionals were

denied overtime and minimum wage because of Arkansas Support Network's illegal

practices. These violations were intentional and willfully committed.

V. CLAIM I:
FLSA: FAILURE TO PAY MINIMUM WAGE

(PLAINTIFFS INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED)

56. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding paragraphs as if they were

fully set forth herein.

57. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and others similarly situated have been

entitled to the rights, protections, and benefits provided under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C.

201, et seq.

58. At all pertinent times, Defendant Arkansas Support Network has been

engaged in activities and has had employees engaged in commerce or in the production
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of goods for commerce, or employees handling, receiving, selling, or otherwise working

on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce, and therefore

constitute an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for

commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 203(r) and (s).

59. At all pertinent times, Defendant Arkansas Support Network has had an

annual gross volume of sales made or business done of not less than $500,000.00, and

therefore, constitutes an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods

for commerce within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 203(r) and (s).

60. Arkansas Support Network is or was, at all relevant times, Plaintiffs'

"employer" as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. 203(d).

61. Plaintiffs are or were each an "employee" of Arkansas Support Network as

that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. 203(d).

62. The FLSA requires Arkansas Support Network, as a covered employer, to

compensate all non-exempt employees for all hours worked at a rate not less than the

minimum wage set forth in 29 U.S.C. 206. The minimum wage applicable to Plaintiffs

and others similarly situated is $7.25 per hour.

63. Plaintiffs and others similarly situated are entitled to compensation for all

hours worked up to 40 in a workweek at a rate not less than $7.25 per hour.

64. At all relevant times, Arkansas Support Network, pursuant to its policies

and practices, failed and refused to compensate Plaintiff and others similarly situated for

work performed at the minimum wage required by the FLSA.
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65. Arkansas Support Network violated and continues to violate the FLSA, 29

U.S.C. 201 et seq., including 29 U.S.C. 206(a)(1), by failing to pay Plaintiffs and others

similarly situated for all hours worked at the minimum wage rates prescribed therein.

These violations of the FLSA were knowing and willful within the meaning of 29 U.S.C.

201 et seq.

66. Arkansas Support Network has neither acted in good faith nor with

reasonable grounds to believe its actions and omissions were not a violation of the FLSA.

As a result, Plaintiffs and other similarly-situated employees are entitled to recover an

award of liquidated damages in an amount equal to the amount of unpaid wages as

described by Section 16(b) of the FLSA, codified at 29 U.S.C. 215(b). Alternatively,

should the Court find Arkansas Support Network acted in good faith in failing to pay its

employees minimum wage, Plaintiffs and all similarly-situated employees are entitled to

an award of prejudgment interest at the applicable legal rate.

67. Because of Arkansas Support Network's violations of law, Plaintiffs and

others similarly situated are entitled to recover from Arkansas Support Network

attorneys' fees, litigation expenses, and court costs, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 216(b), and

such other legal and equitable relief as the Court deems just and proper.

VI. CLAIM II:
FLSA: FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME

(PLAINTIFFS INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED)

68. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the preceding paragraphs as if they were

fully set forth herein.
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69. Section 207(a)(1) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. 207(a)(1), requires employers to

pay non-exempt employees one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all time

worked over forty hours per workweek.

70. Plaintiffs and those similarly situated were not exempt from the overtime

provisions of the FLSA.

71. Plaintiffs and those similarly-situated employees regularly worked in

excess of forty hours per workweek without overtime compensation from Arkansas

Support Network.

72. Arkansas Support Network violated and continues to violate the FLSA, 29

U.S.C. 201 et seq., including 29 U.S.C. 207(a)(1) by failing to pay Plaintiffs and putative

class members overtime compensation for all hours worked in excess of forty each week.

73. Arkansas Support Network knew or should have known that Plaintiffs and

others similarly situated were entitled to overtime pay and knowingly and willfully

violated the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiffs and others similarly situated overtime

compensation, therefore these violations of the FLSA were knowing and willful within

the meaning of 29 U.S.C. 201 et seq.

74. Arkansas Support Network has neither acted in good faith nor with

reasonable grounds to believe its actions and omissions were not a violation of the FLSA.

As a result, Plaintiffs and other similarly-situated employees are entitled to recover an

award of liquidated damages in an amount equal to the amount of unpaid wages as

described by Section 16(b) of the FLSA, codified at 29 U.S.C. 215(b). Alternatively,

should the Court find Arkansas Support Network acted in good faith in failing to pay its
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employees their overtime wages, Plaintiffs and all similarly-situated employees are

entitled to an award of prejudgment interest at the applicable legal rate.

75. Because of Arkansas Support Network's violations of law, Plaintiffs and

putative class members are entitled to recover from Arkansas Support Network

attorneys' fees, litigation expenses and court costs, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 216(b), and

such other legal and equitable relief as the Court deems just and proper.

VII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the class of similarly-

situated individuals they seek to represent, respectfully request this Court:

a. Enter an order certifying Plaintiffs' claims brought under the Fair Labor

Standards Act for treatment as a collective action;

b. Designate Plaintiffs as Class Representatives;

c. Appoint Holleman & Associates, P.A. as class counsel;

d. Enter a declaratory judgment that the practices complained of herein are

unlawful under the Fair Labor Standards Act;

e. Enter a permanent injunction restraining and preventing Arkansas Support

Network from withholding the compensation that is due to their employees, from

retaliating against any of them for taking part in this action, and from further violating

their rights under the Fair Labor Standards Act;

f. Enter an Order for complete and accurate accounting of all the

compensation to which Plaintiffs and all other similarly-situated employees are entitled;
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g. Award Plaintiffs and all putative class members compensatory damages in

an amount equal to the unpaid back wages at the applicable minimum wage and

overtime rates from three (3) years prior to this lawsuit through the date of trial;

h. Award Plaintiffs and all putative class members liquidated damages in an

amount equal to their compensatory damages;

i. Award Plaintiffs and all putative class members punitive damages;

j- Award Plaintiffs and all putative class members all recoverable costs,

expenses, and attorneys' fees incurred in prosecuting this action and all claims, together

with all applicable interest; and

k. Grant Plaintiffs and all putative class members all such further relief as the

Court deems just and appropriate.

VIII. JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs demand a jury trial on all issues so triable.

HOLLEMAN & ASSOCIATES, P.A.
1008 West Second Street
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
Tel. 501.975.5040
Fax 501.975.5043

Respe tfuyy Submitted,

2.5.
JI/nHolleman, ABN 91056

jholleman@johnholleman.net
Timothy A. Steadman, ABN 2009113

tim@johnholleman.net
Jerry Garner, ABN 2014134

jerry@johnholleman.net
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ARKANSAS SUPPORT NETWORK, INC

CONSENT TO JOIN COLLECTIVE ACTION

I consent to join the action as a Plaintiff against the above-referenced Defendants or any other individual or

entity who may be liable as an employer under the Fair Labor Standards Act. If this case does rot proceed collectively,

I also consent to join any subsequent action to assert the same or similar claims. I consent to becoming a party Plaintiff

to this lawsuit, to be represented by HOLLEMAN & ASSOCIATES, P.A. and to be bound by any settlement of this

action or adjudication of the court.

Consented to on this Iday of D e,2017

Shay Ferguson
Print Name

Sign e

December 12, 2017
Date
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ARKANSAS SUPPORT NETWORK, INC

CONSENT TO JOIN COLLECTIVE ACTION

I consent to join the action as a Plaintiff against the above-referenced Defendants or any other individual or

entity who may be liable as an employer under the Fair Labor Standards Act. If this case does not proceed collectively,

I also consent to join any subsequent action to assert the same or similar clalms I consent to becoming a party Plaintiff

to this lawsuit, to be represented by HOLLEMAN & ASSOCIATES, P.A. and to be bound by any settlement of this

action or adjudication of the court.

Consented to on this day of ..\>e te-One, 2017

Joshua Coleman
Print Name

retkig4#1447
ignature

December 12, 2017
Date

EXHIBIT



JOB DESCRIPTION 

COMMUNITY SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL 
 

JOB SUMMARY: The Community Support Professional (CSP) provides support and assistance to 

assigned individuals who receive services through the Community Living Services division of Arkansas 

Support Network, Inc.  The CSP assists and enables the individual to live in a home, utilize the 

community to its fullest and to attend school or work.  The CSP is responsible to see that individuals who 

receive services from this agency are included fully in all chosen community activities. The CSP is 

responsible for the following specific duties: 
 
JOB DUTIES: 

1. Provides direct, day to day support, services and resources as prescribed in the Individual Service 

Plan for all individuals assigned. 
● Follows a daily calendar to ensure completion of each objective with CSP responsibility on the ISP, 

noting changes to calendar, and “signing off” on objectives completed. 

● Records data for each objective addressed during the day per the individual ISP.  This data is completed 

for each shift. 
● Provides input for quarterly summary for each ISP objective for each person served.  This information 

will be provided prior to the quarterly meetings for each individual served. 
● Attends and participates in quarterly/annual reviews as scheduled for each individual served. 

● Attends regular home/team meetings as scheduled by the supervisor. 
● Follows behavioral plan established for assigned individuals. 

● Provides regular and ongoing documentation for all services provided.  
 

2. Provides assistance to assigned individuals in maintaining their home in a neat, clean, safe 

manner. 
 

● Observes all fire and health regulations to ensure that home is safe and accident free.  

● Assists assigned individuals in monitoring personal budget.  

● Maintains weekly expense record, account balances, and all necessary documentation of receipts 

for all expenditures. 

● Assists assigned individuals in menu planning, and in the purchasing and preparation of 

nutritional meals.  

● Submits a weekly menu guide to supervisor. 

 

3. Assists and supports individual in all daily activities: 
 

● Transports assigned individuals to and from community resources/services/activities. Documents 

travel on travel form. 

● Follows all vehicle safety regulations in the transportation of assigned individuals.  This will 

include seat belt usage and practicing emergency exit procedures. 

● Assists assigned individuals in attending school/work/community functions as determined by the 

ISP and the needs and desires of the individual/family.   

● Assists assigned individuals in developing and maintaining a calendar of daily, weekly, monthly 

activities. 

● Documents opportunities for inclusion in the community and in the home which promote age 

appropriate, functional activities. 
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4. Completes required documentation 
 

● Establishes and maintains a binder and emergency file for each assigned individual.  The 

emergency file will contain at a minimum:  

● Face sheet 

● Contact phone numbers for individual served  

● Medication administration release 

● Medication control form 

● Copy of Medicaid card 

● Staff communication log  

● Individual’s daily calendar  

● Behavior management guide  

● Budget/petty cash information  

● Monthly summary 

● Completes all required documentation on online case notes on a weekly basis 

● Completes staff sign in-out/communication log upon entering home and upon leaving, as 

assigned. 

● Submits to supervisor via online case notes on a weekly basis: completed time sheet, travel log, 

data for each assigned individual. 

● Submits daily communication notes on a weekly basis.  (Communication notes give a description 

of the activities of the day and includes any information that all staff need to be aware of.  These 

notes are to be read and initialed by all CSP upon reporting to work.) 

● Completes data for each objective addressed in the ISP on a weekly basis per online case notes.  

● Checks email inbox at least weekly to maintain lines of communication with all staff and 

supervisors.  

● Completes medication records immediately after administering any medication to assigned 

individuals.  

● Completes and documents medication counts at least once per week; submits these records on a 

monthly basis. 

● Reports all accidents/incidents immediately to supervisor. 

● Completes accident/incident forms within twenty-four hours of accident or incident. 

● Maintains a written inventory of all items belonging to each assigned individual; revises this 

inventory immediately as items are added.  

● Completes a Health Professional Visitation Form with appropriate signatures, for all medical, 

dental, or professional provider appointments attended by the assigned individual.  

● Completes monthly fire/tornado drill with appropriate documentation. 

● Submits monthly respite calendar to supervisor by the 10th of the month for the following month 

(applies to children only). 

● Completes monthly summaries as directed by supervisor. 

● Completes doctor visitation documentation as part of the monthly summary. 

● Maintains complete petty cash forms as assigned by supervisor. 

 

 

5. Provides assistance to individuals served to promote and expand opportunities for 

developing relationships and a full life in his/her home and in the community. 
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● Assists the individual served and the team in defining and developing adaptations, 

communication systems, and other supports which lead to specific skills. 

● Provides opportunities for inclusion in community activities. 

● Meets with team regularly to discuss actions that have been taken to develop ‘choices and 

engagements’ for the assigned individuals. 

● Provides supports in ways that demonstrate to the community, a belief in the philosophy of total 

community inclusion and acceptance.   

 

6. Attends competency based training as well as ongoing training in ‘Best Practices’ for 

individuals with disabilities as assigned by supervisor. 
 

● Completes ASN orientation within 30 days of employment (to be reviewed annually).   

● Attends ASN sponsored training.  

● Completes all assigned courses on the agencies Learning Management System 

● Attends other training/in-service/workshop in ‘best practices’ as assigned by supervisor. 

 

Qualifications: 

 

The Community Support Professional is highly sensitive to the needs of people with disabilities.  

He/She has the ability and skills to meet the needs of the person(s) to whom he/she is assigned. 

The CSP must be flexible, work well as a team member and be able to follow through on 

instruction.  The CSP must be able to take accurate notes and to keep data.  He/She must have 

adequate communication skills and be willing to work cooperatively with a variety of people in a 

various community settings. 

 

Days/Hours: 

The hours of the position vary based upon the needs of the individuals served.  The position may 

be full-time hourly, part-time hourly, or may be based upon an established hourly companionship 

rate.   

 

Training and Education: 

 

The CSP must have a high school education or equivalent.  He/She must have the ability to read 

and write, and to keep accurate records.  Applicants with appropriate degrees (special education, 

psychology, social work, etc.) will receive additional consideration.  When all other 

considerations are equal, individuals with a disability or their family members will be given 

priority consideration.   
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N, Arkansas Support Network
1, Supporting Choices and Opportunities for

Individuals with Disabilities and their Families

Dear Employee or Former Employee,

You will find enclosed with this letter a check for back wages owed to you by Arkansas Support Network

(ASN) relating to a change in labor laws in late 2015 surrounding the use ofPer Diem payments for

overnight c.::ompanion shifts 3/chi woiked. The U.S. Department ofLabor performed the calculation of the

back wages and also determined the timing of your payment.

Also enclosed is a message from Keith Vire, the CEO of ASN during the timeframe in which the back

wages were accrued. This message gives an explanation ofhow the wage underpayment occurred.

Regards,

Danial Marino
Chief Financial Officer Director of Human Resources
Arkansas Support Network

Main Office Family Support Program6836 Isaac's Orchard Road "Arkankav Support' Network operates, mower, and delivers service regard to 614 E. Emma, Suite 219Springdale, AR 72782
ago, religion, disability, sex, race, calor, or national origin" SprIngda;e, AR 72764Phone: (479) 927-4100 Phone: (479) 927-1004Fax: (479) 927-4101 Visit our web site at: www.supports.org Fax: (479) 927-1373Toll Free: 1-890-748-9768

Toll Free: 1-800-7443-9788
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1. We had no input into the amount that you're being paid. We turned over all of our

pay records to the DOL, and they spent several months going through them. They
gave us a list ofpeople to pay, and the amount that they should be paid. If the

amount you receive is less than you think it should be, or if it looks like it's more

than you expected, there's nothing we can do about that. We're bound by law to pay

exactly what DOL tells us to pay, and there's no appeal, on your part or on ASN's

part, concerning those amounts.

2. It won't do you any good to call or email us about the timing ofyour payments.
Those, like the amounts, are dictated by DOL. They sent me a list of folks, and

randomly assigned the dates for you to be paid. We will adhere religiously to this

list, and won't be able to answer your questions about timing or amounts.

3. It's important to me that you understand that we never wanted to pay folks

incorrectly, and that we fought with our state agencies to get the funding to pay

correctly. When other providers and DHS representatives were fighting to get the

DOL ruling overturned, we were advocating for additional funding to pay the

overtime. At ASN, we are currently preparing an appeal to our legislature to get
them to reimburse us for what we're having to pay out because of the DOL audit. In

my initial appeal to Medicaid, I pointed out that,
...It's as ifDMS and DDS are telling me thatyou're not bound byfederal

law, and ifIget in a bind because I don't have adequate reimbursement to

meet those laws, it's just my tough luck I don't agree. I maintain that, by
denying us the ability to meet the terms ofFEDERAL law, you are complicit
in violating those laws,

We will continue to fight this battle, and we'll keep you posted.

So, the bottom line is that, although this is a really hard thing for us as an agency, and
when it's all said and done, it's going to cost us about $600,000, we're happy that we're

going to be able to get all ofour employees paid correctly. Thank you all, and I appreciate
everything you do.

Keith Vire, CEO

Main Office Family Support Program
6836 Isaac's Orchard Road "Arkansas Support Network operates, manages, and deilvers service without regard ro 614 E. Emma, Suite 219
Springdale, AR 72762 age, religion, disability, sex, race, color, or notional origin" Springdale, AR 72784
Phone: (479) 927-4100 Phone: (479) 927-1004
Fax: (479) 927-4101 ViSit our web site at: www.supports.org Fax: (479) 927-1373
Toll Free: 1-800-748-9788 Toil Free: 1-800-748-9768
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Arkansas Support Network Misclassified In-Home Professionals, Lawsuit Claims

https://www.classaction.org/news/arkansas-support-network-misclassified-in-home-professionals-lawsuit-claims

